Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Differentiation



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/diff

ELSEVIER

Review

Epithelial immune cell-like transition (EIT): A proposed transdifferentiation process underlying immune-suppressive activity of epithelial cancers $\stackrel{\circ}{\approx}$

Stephen Yiu Chuen Choi^a, Peter W. Gout^{a,*}, Colin C. Collins^{b,c}, Yuzhuo Wang^{a,b,c,*}

^a Department of Experimental Therapeutics, BC Cancer Agency, Canada V5Z 1L3

^b Department of Urologic Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Canada

^c The Vancouver Prostate Centre, Vancouver, BC, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 September 2011 Received in revised form 6 February 2012 Accepted 10 February 2012 Available online 1 April 2012

Keywords: EIT Immune suppression Tumor micro-environment Transdifferentiation Epithelial cancers

ABSTRACT

The immune system plays a key role in eliminating cancer cells in the body. However, even in fully immune-competent bodies cancers can evade anti-tumor immune action. There is increasing evidence that epithelial cancers can actively suppress anti-tumor immune responses by creating an immune-suppressive micro-environment. It has been reported that epithelial cancers can express immune genes/proteins not normally expressed by their parental tissues, including a variety of cytokines/receptors, immune transcription factors and Ig motifs in cell surface molecules. Recently we observed increased expression of immune genes, including immune-suppressive genes, by prostate epithelial cancers. In view of the above, we propose that immune-suppressive activity of epithelial cancers may stem from their acquisition of immune properties via a transdifferentiation process, we term "Epithelial Immune Cell-like Transition" (EIT), similar to neuroendocrine-like transdifferentiation of prostate adenocarcinoma cells. We propose that the acquired immune properties enable the cancer cells to "communicate" with immune cells, leading to suppression of anti-cancer immune activity in their micro-environment and facilitation of the expansion and malignant progression of the disease. Acquired immune properties of epithelial cancers, which might be quite common, could provide novel targets for reducing cancer-generated immune-suppressive activity and enhancing anti-tumor immune activity. This proposed paradigm shift could lead to novel therapeutic approaches with improved efficacy and broad application.

Crown Copyright © 2012 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of International Society of Differentiation All rights reserved.

Contents

	Introduction	
2.	Association of cancers with immune cells and lymphoid tissue	294
3.	Immune suppressor cells in tumors	294
4.	Immune-suppressive cytokines in tumors	295
5.	Epithelial-immune cell-like transition (EIT)	295
6.	Cancer-induced immune imbalance	296
7.	Conclusions	297
	Conflict of Interests	297
	Acknowledgments	297
	References	297

* Corresponding authors. Department of Experimental Therapeutics, BC Cancer Agency-Cancer Research Centre, 675 West 10th Avenue, Vancouver, BC, Canada V5Z 1L3. Tel.: +1 604 675 8013; fax: +1 604 675 8019.

E-mail addresses: schoi@bccrc.ca (S.Y.C. Choi), pgout@bccrc.ca (P.W. Gout), ccollins@prostatecentre.com (C.C. Collins), ywang@bccrc.ca (Y. Wang).

1. Introduction

The immune system plays a key role in surveying and eliminating cancer cells in the body, as indicated by a vast amount of data from animal models and human patients (Dunn et al., 2004). Nonetheless, cancers can still develop in immuno-competent individuals (Dunn et al., 2002). Recent evidence has indicated that the immune system plays a dual role in the interactions between tumors and the host. In

0301-4681/\$-see front matter Crown Copyright © 2012 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of International Society of Differentiation All rights reserved. Join the International Society for Differentiation (www.isdifferentiation.org) doi:10.1016/j.diff.2012.02.005

 $^{^{\}star}$ Grant support: This study was supported in part by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and the BC Cancer Foundation (YZW). YZW is a recipient of an Overseas Chinese Scholar Award from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (no. 30928027), and a recipient of an Innovative Scholar Award from ICARE and the Fibrolamellar Cancer Foundation.

addition to eliminating cancer cells, it can facilitate tumor progression, at least in part, by sculpting the immunogenic phenotype of tumors as they develop. This realization has led to the concept of "cancer immunoediting" to emphasize the dual host-protective and tumor-promoting actions of immunity (Dunn et al., 2004). While failure of a functional immune system to eradicate cancer growth can stem from the dualistic nature of the immune response, there is compelling evidence that it also involves an ability of cancer cells to evade immune action. Thus cancer cells can circumvent the antitumor immune response by a variety of mechanisms, including down-regulation of self-antigen expression and desensitization to immune cell-induced apoptosis (Hamai et al., 2010). Importantly, there is increasing evidence that cancers can *actively* suppress the immune system in their micro-environment by generating immunesuppressive activity. This ability of cancer cells can lead to downregulation of anti-tumor activity of immune effector cells and enhance local tolerance in favor of their survival; as well, cancer cells can enhance their survival by coopting immune cells to promote tumor growth (Whiteside, 2008; Hamai et al., 2010). A recent upgrade of the hallmark characteristics of cancer includes "evasion of immune destruction", indicating that the interaction between cancer cells and the immune system is recognized as critical for cancer growth and progression (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). As such, elucidation of the molecular and cellular mechanisms by which cancer cells can suppress/modify the immune response in their micro-environment may lead to identification of novel therapeutic targets and improved therapeutic approaches.

As technologies such as genome/transcriptome sequencing continue to advance, it has become increasingly possible to identify novel cancer subtypes and hence refine cancer categories, with the eventual aim of providing effective personalized treatment options via more informative diagnosis (Podo et al., 2010). However, as cancer is more and more subdivided into distinct "diseases", each subtype-targeting therapy becomes more restricted to subsets of patients and less suitable for general application. Rather than continuing this "divide and conquer" approach, focusing on a therapeutic target that is common to a variety of cancers may lead to more generally applicable therapeutic regimens. In this context, it is of interest that the mechanisms by which cancer cells can generate immune-suppressive activity in their micro-environment could be common to a variety of cancers, including their subtypes. If so, elucidation of these mechanisms could lead to new, more generally applicable therapeutic approaches.

As outlined below, recent studies have indicated that epithelial cancer cells can express immune genes and their products, such as cytokines and immune-inhibitory molecules, that are not normally expressed by their parental tissues. Similarly, we have demonstrated expression of immune genes by prostate epithelial cancers. On the basis of these observations, we propose that the immune-suppressive activity of epithelial cancers may stem from their acquisition of immune characteristics, in particular immune-suppressive properties, generated via a transdifferentiation process we coined "Epithelial Immune Cell-like Transition" (EIT). Such acquired immune properties could enable the cancer cells to "communicate" with immune cells, suppress the activity of tumor-associated immune effector cells and also coopt immune cells to promote tumor growth. This proposed paradigm shift could have major implications. Novel therapeutic strategies may be developed that are specifically aimed at immune properties adopted by cancers to favor their growth. Such strategies could have superior efficacy.

Here we review reports that epithelial cancers, regardless of their tissue of origin or subtype, can harbor immune-suppressive activity in their micro-environments, thus favoring their survival. Furthermore, the growth and malignant progression of epithelial cancers can be associated with the acquisition of immune properties by the cancer cells – evidence in support of the proposed EIT concept.

2. Association of cancers with immune cells and lymphoid tissue

Human tumors are generally infiltrated by inflammatory cells (Whiteside, 2008). In addition to malignant cells, tumors contain a dynamic combination of immune cells, such as macrophages, lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and endothelial cells, fibroblasts and perivascular cells. While the presence of inflammatory cell infiltrates (e.g., ectopic lymphoid structures) can represent anticancer immune action (Coppola and Mule, 2008), it can also represent tumor growth-promoting activity by, for instance, M2 tumor-associated macrophages (Hagemann et al., 2005).

Lymphoid organs and the bone marrow are frequent organ sites of cancer metastasis (Nathanson, 2003; Sikes et al., 2004). The presence of cancer cells in regional lymph nodes has long been used for cancer staging and is often associated with unfavorable prognoses and poor patient outcomes (Yokota et al., 2004). It is thought that lymphangiogenesis plays a critical role in facilitating the migration of cancer cells to local lymph nodes by providing a direct connection (Hirakawa, 2009). Expression of the VEGF family of lymphangiogenic factors by cancer cells can result in the induction of lymph vessel formation either intratumorally or near the tumor periphery, enhancing the flow of tumor antigen-presenting cells as well as tumor-associated immune cells into the tumor-draining lymph nodes (Lund and Swartz, 2010). However, there is evidence that such local lymph nodes undergo profound alterations due to the presence of the upstream tumor. Not only does the presentation of tumor antigens by host cells fail to elicit a protective immune response, but a systemic tolerance is actively created (Munn and Mellor, 2006).

3. Immune suppressor cells in tumors

It has long been known that certain cells of the immune system are responsible for maintaining self-tolerance and regulating the severity of the immune response through immunesuppressive mechanisms. The presence of many immune-suppressive cell types in the tumor microenvironment, such as regulatory T (T_{reg}) cells, plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), M2 macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), has been correlated with poor patient outcomes for a variety of cancers (Zou et al., 2001; Curiel et al., 2004; Sica et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2009; Kurahara et al., 2011). Immune-suppressive molecules secreted by immune suppressor cells, such as $TGF\beta$, IL10, IDO, and arginase, can diminish the activity of effector cells (Sica et al., 2006; Beyer and Schultze, 2009). Moreover, suppressor cells can use cytotoxic cell products, such as reactive oxygen species, granzyme B and perforin, to induce effector cell death (Bever and Schultze, 2009; Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009). Further details on the mechanism of action of immune suppressor cells have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Beyer and Schultze, 2009; Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009; Biswas and Mantovani, 2010; Matta et al., 2010). Regulatory NK and regulatory B cells may also suppress the immune response. Regulatory NK cells can negatively regulate the immune response by inducing lysis of immune effector cells, such as mature dendritic cells (Chiesa et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2006), through, for instance, the release of IL-10 (Bouaziz et al., 2008; Deniz et al., 2008). While a role of NK cells in cancer development has not yet been confirmed, there is increasing evidence that both regulatory NK and B

cell types are involved in the control of autoimmune diseases (Lund and Randall, 2010; Yoshida et al., 2010).

Escape of cancers from anti-cancer immune action may in part be accomplished by their recruitment of immune suppressor cells. The propensity of immune-suppressive cell types to associate with cancer (Zou et al., 2001; Curiel et al., 2004; Sica et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2009; Kurahara et al., 2011) raises the possibility that tumors are able to attract immune suppressor cells to their micro-environment, leading to suppression of the local immune response and enhancement of cancer growth. This suggestion is supported by a recent finding that secretion by breast cancer cells of CCL22, a ligand for CCR4, a chemokine receptor expressed by virtually all peripheral blood T_{reg} cells (Hirahara et al., 2006), led to recruitment of immune-suppressive T_{reg} cells (Faget et al., 2011). A similar finding was made with melanoma cells that express the chemoattractant CCL21. The secretion of CCL21 by melanoma tumors in mice led to recruitment of T_{reg} cells to the tumor sites and a shift in the host immune response from immunogenic to tolerogenic (Shields et al., 2010). These observations suggest that cancer cells, by altering their micro-environment (to attract T_{reg} cells for example), can shift the host immune response from immunogenic to tolerogenic. The mechanisms involved in such processes will need to be interrupted in order for clinical anti-tumor immunotherapy to be successful (Munn and Mellor, 2006).

4. Immune-suppressive cytokines in tumors

The micro-environment of tumors is known to be significantly different than that of normal tissue. Local expression of antiinflammatory cytokines in, for example, certain skin cancers, leads to the development of a T_{H2} type cytokine pattern in their micro-environment that favors humoral immunity with concomitant immune-suppression of cell-mediated immune responses (Yamamura et al., 1993). Similar immune-suppressive tumor micro-environments have been observed in ovarian and liver cancer (Pang et al., 2009; Yigit et al., 2010). Importantly, antiinflammatory cytokines are released not only by suppressive immune cells, but also by cancer cells, indicating an active role for cancer cells in immune-suppression (Bellone et al., 2006; Gross and Walden, 2008). There is no doubt that alteration of the tumor micro-environment by immune-suppressive cytokines greatly perturbs immune cell functions. The prominence of, for example, TGF β in the tumor micro-environment has wide-ranging effects on the functions of many immune cell types, including attenuation of IFN- γ production by NK cells, inhibition of normal tasks of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and induction of regulatory T cell differentiation from CD4 T cells (Flavell et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2010). An immune-suppressive cytokine environment also alters the cytokine production by macrophages and impedes the maturation of DCs (Pinzon-Charry et al., 2005; Stout et al., 2005). Taken together, the build-up of immune-suppressive cytokines in the tumor micro-environment can cause immune cells to become significantly deficient at generating the appropriate tumor-eliminating response and appears to constitute one of the ways by which cancers can create an immune-suppressive micro-environment.

5. Epithelial-immune cell-like transition (EIT)

Major characteristics of regulatory immune cells are their ability to control various aspects of the immune response and to be fully mobile in the human body. As described above (and below), epithelial cancers can, although they are not related to the immune system, suppress the anti-tumor immune response in their micro-environment via mechanisms normally applied by immune cells; furthermore, cancer cells are mobile in the metastatic form. As such, epithelial cancer cells can mimic properties of regulatory immune cells. We hypothesize that epithelial cancers can acquire immune-regulatory properties following activation or enhancement of immune genes via a transdifferentiation process. The gene products generated would not only include immune-suppressive cytokines and cytokine receptors, but also transcription factors and other proteins thought to play important roles in immune processes. The acquisition of immunesuppressive properties by cancers would markedly enhance their ability to survive and thrive. We have coined the term "epithelialimmune cell-like transition" (EIT) to describe this acquired expression of immune cell-like properties by epithelial cancer cells (Gout et al., 2009). It may represent a transdifferentiation process as reported for prostate adenocarcinoma cells that acquire a neuroendocrine (NE) phenotype complete with expression of NE markers (Yuan et al., 2007).

There is a growing body of evidence supporting the EIT hypothesis. An analysis of publicly available microarray data obtained from microdissected normal and cancerous human epithelial cells indicates a significant upregulation in the cancer cells of genes that play major roles in immune processes and apparently are not expressed by normal epithelial cells (Table 1). They include *FCGR1A,B* and *FCGR2A* (encoding high affinity receptors for the F_c region of gamma-immunoglobulins), *GZMA* and *GZMB* (encoding T cell- and NK cell-specific serine proteases), and *IL7R* (encoding the IL7 receptor).

Transplantable metastatic LTL313H and non-metastatic LTL313B prostate cancer xenograft lines have recently been established in our laboratory from one patient's prostate cancer specimen (Watahiki et al., 2011). Using next generation transcriptome sequencing, and mapping to the human transcriptome database using stringent criteria, we have demonstrated the presence, and upregulation in the metastatic line, of human-specific immune genes that have immune-suppressive properties (Table 2). They include *CD*83 (soluble CD83 promotes immune suppression) (Ge et al., 2010), *CD*200 (CD200 suppresses NK cell function and inhibits anti-tumor response in acute myeloid leukemia) (Coles et al., 2011), *FOXP*3 (encodes a transcription factor which mediates negative regulation of immune suppression) (Josefowicz et al., 2012), *IDO*1 (IDO1 can induce immune tolerance) (Ferdinande et al., 2012), and *IL23A* (IL23A can promote tumor incidence and growth) (Langowski et al., 2006).

Furthermore, expression of immunoglobulins by human epithelial cancer cells has been reported (Zhenga et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2009). Increased expression of PAX5, considered to be an essential transcription factor for B cell development (Nutt et al., 1999), has been observed in a number of carcinoma cell lines (Norhany et al., 2006; Kanteti et al., 2009). Epithelial cancer cells showed elevated expression (relative to normal tissues) of a variety of chemokines (e.g., CXCL, CCL and CX3CL series) and chemokine receptors (e.g., CXCR, CCR, CX3CR series) (Lazennec and Richmond, 2009). As already mentioned, a tolerogenic response can result from recruitment of T_{reg} cells by epithelial cancers via secretion of chemoattractants such as CCL21 (by melanoma cells) (Shields et al., 2010) or CCL22 (by breast cancer cells) (Faget et al., 2011), or by secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Bellone et al., 2006; Gross and Walden, 2008).

The evidence presented here indicates that epithelial cancers can express immune genes that are apparently not normally expressed by epithelial cells (see Table 1). Furthermore they can also show elevated expression of genes that have a role in immune processes but are not confined to immune cells, such as genes encoding chemokines and their receptors that are also expressed by the epithelial and endothelial cells (Lazennec and Richmond, 2009). Of special interest is the human-specific expression in prostate cancer xenograft lines, in particular in the metastatic line, of genes known to

Table 1

Immune genes upregulated in various epithelial cancers. Analysis based on publicly available microarray data of microdissected samples found on Oncomine^a.

Cancer type	Immune genes	Fold-increase (cancer vs. normal)	Gene product function	GEO dataset		
Breast (Invasive lobular and ductal carcinoma)	FCGR1B	6.83	Binds to the F_c region of immunoglobulins gamma with low affinity. May function in the humoral immune response.	GSE5764		
	FLT3	3.18	Regulates differentiation, proliferation and survival of hematopoietic progenitor cells and dendritic cells.			
Cervical (Carcinoma)	GZMA	2.65	Necessary for target cell lysis in cell-mediated immune responses.	GSE6791		
	GZMB	2.42	Necessary for target cell lysis in cell-mediated immune responses.			
	FCGR2A	1.75	Binds to the F _c region of immunoglobulins gamma. Promotes phagocytosis of opsonized antigens.			
	FCGR1A	1.59	High affinity receptor for the F_c region of immunoglobulins gamma. Functions in both innate and adaptive immune responses.			
Oral Cavity (Oral squamous cell carcinoma)	GZMA	3.71	Necessary for target cell lysis in cell-mediated immune responses.	GSE3524		
Ovarian (Various carcinomas)	BLNK	1.85	Regulates biological outcomes of B-cell function and development.	GSE6008		
Pancreatic (Ductal	BLNK	1.98	Regulates biological outcomes of B-cell function and development.	Supplementary Data,		
adenocarcinoma)	FCN1	1.79	Involved in serum exerting lectin activity. Binds GlcNAc.	PMID 16103885		
	LRMP	1.66	Expressed in a developmentally regulated manner in lymphoid cell lines/ tissues.			
Tonsillar (Carcinoma)	IL7R	4.46	Plays a critical role in the V(D)J recombination during lymphocyte development.	GSE6791		

^a Only data sets originating from microdissected cells were included in the cancer vs. normal cell analysis. The data were then refined using a filter of 1.5x fold difference and p-value $\leq 10^{-3}$. The immune functions of genes were taken from UniProt and NCBI gene summaries. The genes presented are apparently not expressed by normal epithelial cells.

Table 2

Gene expressions showing upregulation of typical immune genes in a human metastatic prostate cancer xenograft line relative to its non-metastatic counterpart^a.

Genes	Non-metastatic line (LTL313B)	Metastatic line (LTL313H)	Fold increase	Typical cellular expression	Gene product function
CD83	0.32	0.98	3.04	Dendritic cells	Cell surface glycoprotein, dendritic cell marker. Soluble CD83 promotes immunosuppression. (Ge et al., 2010).
CD200	0.30	1.34	4.45	Macrophages and dendritic cells	Cell surface ligand suppresses NK cell function and inhibits anti-tumor response in acute myeloid leukemia (Coles et al., 2011).
FOXP3	0.30	1.40	4.59	T _{reg} cells	Transcription factor: negative regulation of immune suppression (Josefowicz et al., 2012).
ICOSLG (B7H2)	1.78	2.13	1.20	Monocytes and dendritic cells	Costimulatory molecule with regulatory role in T-cell cytokine production (Nagamatsu et al., 2011).
IDO1	0.38	0.71	1.86	Monocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages	A tryptophan-catabolising enzyme inducing immune tolerance by modulating T-cell responses (Ferdinande et al., 2012).
IGHA1	0	0.90	high	B cells	Major immunoglobulin.
IGHA2	0	0.88	high	B cells	Major immunoglobulin.
IL23A	1.03	4.19	4.08	Dendritic cells and macrophages	IL23A increases angiogenesis, matrix metalloprotease production and can promote tumor incidence and growth (Langowski et al., 2006).

^a Relative human-specific immune gene expression was established in transplantable metastatic LTL313H and non-metastatic LTL313B prostate cancer xenograft lines (4th generation), developed from one patient's prostate cancer specimen in immuno-deficient NOD-SCID mice (Watahiki et al., 2011). To this end, Illumina transcriptome sequencing was used, coupled to stringent mapping to the human transcriptome database. Sequence reads for each transcriptome library were aligned to the ALEXA reference sequence database using MAQ 0.7.1 (Li et al., 2008; Griffith et al., 2010) allowing no more than 2 mismatches. The expression levels using RNA-Seq reads were quantified as previously described (Lapuk et al., 2010) and normalized using quantile normalization. Gene expression was estimated using the average of all exon and junction expressions from a gene. Fourth generation xenografts, developed over a 2 year period in NOD-SCID mice, do not contain human immune cells.

have immune-suppressive abilities (Table 2). Taken together, the data support the EIT concept, namely the acquisition by epithelial cancer cells of immune cell-like properties, via activation or enhancement of immune genes, leading to immune-suppressive activity in their micro-environment and immune evasion. The increase in immune-suppressive activity found for metastatic prostate cancer cells suggests that EIT has an important role in metastasis.

6. Cancer-induced immune imbalance

It has been suggested that joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis is the result of a disturbance of the balance between pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune cell types (Mauri and Carter, 2009). A similar disturbance may underlie the development of epithelial cancers following their initiation. The evidence presented above indicates that such cancers can tip the balance of the immune system in their micro-environment in favor of immune tolerance by actively promoting immune-suppressing activity. The reduced anti-tumor immune response obtained would then allow survival of cancers as well as their expansion and malignant progression. Viewing cancer outgrowth this way could have significant implications for cancer therapy development, particularly with regard to cancer immunotherapies. Such therapies, focusing on enhancing the anti-tumor immune response either through tumor antigen vaccination or through introduction of effector cells, have had

only limited success (Copier et al., 2009; Antonarakis and Drake, 2010). The major barrier to these approaches appears to be the immune-suppressive environment of most tumors (Burgents et al., 2010). Therapeutic approaches may therefore be more effective by targeting the mechanisms driving the EIT that result in cancer-induced immune suppression in the tumor micro-environment rather than focusing on enhancement of immune effector cell functions, although a combination of the two approaches could be beneficial.

7. Conclusions

There is increasing evidence that the generation of an immunesuppressive micro-environment is a fundamental trait of epithelial cancers, allowing their development and progression/metastasis in spite of an active anti-tumor immune response. If this process is based on EIT-mediated cancer-immune cell crosstalk, it would render EIT the major hallmark of human epithelial cancers. As well, targeting of the acquired immune cell-like properties of the cancers could likely lead to effective therapeutic approaches. Their identification may be achieved via molecular analysis. While the acquired immune properties are likely to vary for the different types of epithelial cancers, they are confined to the immune system and could, for certain cancers, provide common therapeutic targets. The proposed paradigm shift could therefore lead to novel therapeutic approaches with improved efficacy and broad application.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no conflicting interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Drs. Fang Zhang, Akira Watahiki, Cheryl Helgason, Hui Xue and Dong Lin of the BC Cancer Agency for helpful discussions.

References

- Antonarakis, E.S., Drake, C.G., 2010. Current status of immunological therapies for prostate cancer. Current Opinion in Urology 20, 241–246.
- Bellone, G., Smirne, C., Mauri, F.A., Tonel, E., Carbone, A., Buffolino, A., Dughera, L., Robecchi, A., Pirisi, M., Emanuelli, G., 2006. Cytokine expression profile in human pancreatic carcinoma cells and in surgical specimens: implications for survival. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy 55, 684–698.
- Beyer, M., Schultze, J.L., 2009. Regulatory T cells: major players in the tumor microenvironment. Current Pharmaceutical Design 15, 1879–1892.
- Biswas, S.K., Mantovani, A., 2010. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nature Immunology 11, 889–896. Bouaziz, J.D., Yanaba, K., Tedder, T.F., 2008. Regulatory B cells as inhibitors of
- immune responses and inflammation. Immunological Reviews 224, 201–214. Burgents, J.E., Moran, T.P., West, M.L., Davis, N.L., Johnston, R.E., Serody, J.S., 2010. The immunosuppressive tumor environment is the major impediment to successful therapeutic vaccination in neu transgenic mice. Journal of Immu-
- notherapy 33, 482–491. Chiesa, M.D., Vitale, M., Carlomagno, S., Ferlazzo, G., Moretta, L., Moretta, A., 2003. The natural killer cell-mediated killing of autologous dendritic cells is confined to a cell subset expressing CD94/NKG2A, but lacking inhibitory killer lg-like receptors. European Journal of Immunology 33, 1657–1666.
- Coles, S.J., Wang, E.C., Man, S., Hills, R.K., Burnett, A.K., Tonks, A., Darley, R.L., 2011. CD200 expression suppresses natural killer cell function and directly inhibits patient anti-tumor response in acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 25, 792–799.
- Copier, J., Dalgleish, A.G., Britten, C.M., Finke, L.H., Gaudernack, G., Gnjatic, S., Kallen, K., Kiessling, R., Schuessler-Lenz, M., Singh, H., Talmadge, J., Zwierzina, H., Hakansson, L., 2009. Improving the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy. European Journal of Cancer 45, 1424–1431.
- Coppola, D., Mule, J.J., 2008. Ectopic lymph nodes within human solid tumors. Journal of Clinical Oncology 26, 4369–4370.
- Curiel, T.J., Coukos, G., Zou, L., Alvarez, X., Cheng, P., Mottram, P., Evdemon-Hogan, M., Conejo-Garcia, J.R., Zhang, L., Burow, M., Zhu, Y., Wei, S., Kryczek, I., Daniel, B., Gordon, A., Myers, L., Lackner, A., Disis, M.L., Knutson, K.L., Chen, L., Zou, W., 2004.

Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nature Medicine 10, 942–949.

- Deniz, G., Erten, G., Kucuksezer, U.C., Kocacik, D., Karagiannidis, C., Aktas, E., Akdis, C.A., Akdis, M., 2008. Regulatory NK cells suppress antigen-specific T cell responses. Journal of Immunology 180, 850–857.
- Dunn, G.P., Old, L.J., Schreiber, R.D., 2004. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annual Review of Immunology 22, 329–360.
- Dunn, G.P., Bruce, A.T., Ikeda, H., Old, L.J., Schreiber, R.D., 2002. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nature Immunology 3, 991–998.
- Faget, J., Biota, C., Bachelot, T., Gobert, M., Treilleux, I., Goutagny, N., Durand, I., Leon-Goddard, S., Blay, J.Y., Caux, C., Menetrier-Caux, C., 2011. Early detection of tumor cells by innate immune cells leads to T(reg) recruitment through CCL22 production by tumor cells. Cancer Research 71, 6143–6152.
- Ferdinande, L., Decaestecker, C., Verset, L., Mathieu, A., Moles Lopez, X., Negulescu, A.M., Van Maerken, T., Salmon, I., Cuvelier, C.A., Demetter, P., 2012. Clinicopathological significance of indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase 1 expression in colorectal cancer. British Journal of Cancer 106, 141–147. Epub 2011 Nov. 22.
- Flavell, R.A., Sanjabi, S., Wrzesinski, S.H., Licona-Limon, P., 2010. The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGF beta. Nature Reviews Immunology 10, 554–567.
- Gabrilovich, D.I., Nagaraj, S., 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology 9, 162–174.
- Ge, W., Arp, J., Lian, D., Liu, W., Baroja, M.L., Jiang, J., Ramcharran, S., Eldeen, F.Z., Zinser, E., Steinkasserer, A., Chou, P., Brand, S., Nicolette, C., Garcia, B., Wang, H., 2010. Immunosuppression involving soluble CD83 induces tolerogenic dendritic cells that prevent cardiac allograft rejection. Transplantation 90, 1145–1156.
- Gout, P.W., Watahiki A., Wang, Y., Lin, D., Xue, H., Wang Y.Z., 2009. Proposed epithelial-immune cell transition (EIT) of cancer cells may be critical for survival of prostate cancers via evasion of immune surveillance. Proceedings for the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting, Abstract no. 4183.
- Griffith, M., Griffith, O.L., Mwenifumbo, J., Goya, R., Morrissy, A.S., Morin, R.D., Corbett, R., Tang, M.J., Hou, Y.C., Pugh, T.J., Robertson, G., Chittaranjan, S., Ally, A., Asano, J.K., Chan, S.Y., Li, H.I., McDonald, H., Teague, K., Zhao, Y., Zeng, T., Delaney, A., Hirst, M., Morin, G.B., Jones, S.J., Tai, I.T., Marra, M.A., 2010. Alternative expression analysis by RNA sequencing. Nature Methods 7, 843–847.
- Gross, S., Walden, P., 2008. Immunosuppressive mechanisms in human tumors: why we still cannot cure cancer. Immunology Letters 116, 7–14.
- Hagemann, T., Wilson, J., Kulbe, H., Li, N.F., Leinster, D.A., Charles, K., Klemm, F., Pukrop, T., Binder, C., Balkwill, F.R., 2005. Macrophages induce invasiveness of epithelial cancer cells via NF-κB and JNK. Journal of Immunology 175, 1197-1205.
- Hamai, A., Benlalam, H., Meslin, F., Hasmim, M., Carre, T., Akalay, I., Janji, B., Berchem, G., Noman, M.Z., Chouaib, S., 2010. Immune surveillance of human cancer: if the cytotoxic T lymphocytes play the music, does the tumoral system call the tune? Tissue Antigens 75, 1–8.
- Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A., 2011. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646–674.
- Hirahara, K., Liu, L., Clark, R.A., Yamanaka, K., Fuhlbrigge, R.C., Kupper, T.S., 2006. The majority of human peripheral blood CD4+ CD25 highFoxp3+ regulatory T cells bear functional skin-homing receptors. Journal of Immunology 177, 4488–4494.
- Hirakawa, S., 2009. From tumor lymphangiogenesis to lymphvascular niche. Cancer Science 100, 983–989.
- Josefowicz, S.Z., Lu, L.F., Rudensky, A.Y., 2012. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annual Review of Immunology January 6 [Epub ahead of print].
- Kanteti, R., Nallasura, V., Loganathan, S., Tretiakova, M., Kroll, T., Krishnaswamy, S., Faoro, L., Cagle, P., Husain, A.N., Vokes, E.E., Lang, D., Salgia, R., 2009. PAX5 is expressed in small-cell lung cancer and positively regulates c-Met transcription. Laboratory Investigation 89, 301–314.
- Kurahara, H., Shinchi, H., Mataki, Y., Maemura, K., Noma, H., Kubo, F., Sakoda, M., Ueno, S., Natsugoe, S., Takao, S., 2011. Significance of M2-polarized tumorassociated macrophage in pancreatic cancer. Journal of Surgical Research 167, e211–e219.
- Langowski, J.L., Zhang, X., Wu, L., Mattson, J.D., Chen, T., Smith, K., Basham, B., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A., Oft, M., 2006. IL-23 promotes tumour incidence and growth. Nature 442, 461–465.
- Lapuk, A., Marr, H., Jakkula, L., Pedro, H., Bhattacharya, S., Purdom, E., Hu, Z., Simpson, K., Pachter, L., Durinck, S., Wang, N., Parvin, B., Fontenay, G., Speed, T., Garbe, J., Stampfer, M., Bayandorian, H., Dorton, S., Clark, T.A., Schweitzer, A., Wyrobek, A., Feiler, H., Spellman, P., Conboy, J., Gray, J.W., 2010. Exon-level microarray analyses identify alternative splicing programs in breast cancer. Molecular Cancer Research 8, 961–974.
- Lazennec, G., Richmond, A., 2009. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: new insights into cancer-related inflammation. Trends in Molecular Medicine 16, 133–144.
- Li, H., Ruan, J., Durbin, R., 2008. Mapping short DNA sequencing reads and calling variants using mapping quality scores. Genome Research 18, 1851–1858.
- Lund, F.E., Randall, T.D., 2010. Effector and regulatory B cells: modulators of CD4(+) T cell immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology 10, 236–247.
- Lund, A.W., Swartz, M.A., 2010. Role of lymphatic vessels in tumor immunity: passive conduits or active participants? Journal of Mammary Gland Biology Neoplasia 15, 341–352.

- Matta, B.M., Castellaneta, A., Thomson, A.W., 2010. Tolerogenic plasmacytoid DC. European Journal of Immunology 40, 2667–2676.
- Mauri, C., Carter, N., 2009. Is there a feudal hierarchy amongst regulatory immune cells? More than just Tregs. Arthritis Research and Therapy 11, 237.
- Munn, D.H., Mellor, A.L., 2006. The tumor-draining lymph node as an immuneprivileged site. Immunological Reviews 213, 146–158.
- Nagamatsu, T., Barrier, B.F., Schust, D.J., 2011. The regulation of T-cell cytokine production by ICOS-B7H2 interactions at the human fetomaternal interface. Immunology and Cell Biology 89, 417–425.
- Nathanson, S.D., 2003. Insights into the mechanisms of lymph node metastasis. Cancer 98, 413-423.
- Norhany, S., Kouzo, Y., Uzawa, K., Hayama, M., Higo, M., Koike, H., Kasamatu, A., Tanzawa, H., 2006. Overexpression of PAX5 in oral carcinogenesis. Oncology Reports 16, 1003–1008.
- Nutt, S.L., Heavey, B., Rolink, A.G., Busslinger, M., 1999. Commitment to the B lymphoid lineage depends on the transcription factor Pax5. Nature 401, 556–562.
- Pang, Y.L., Zhang, H.G., Peng, J.R., Pang, X.W., Yu, S., Xing, Q., Yu, X., Gong, L., Yin, Y.H., Zhang, Y., Chen, W.F., 2009. The immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy 58, 877–886.
- Pinzon-Charry, A., Maxwell, T., Lopez, J.A., 2005. Dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer: a mechanism for immunosuppression. Immunology and Cell Biology 83, 451–461.
- Podo, F., Buydens, L.M., Degani, H., Hilhorst, R., Klipp, E., Gribbestad, I.S., Van Huffel, S., van Laarhoven, H.W., Luts, J., Monleon, D., Postma, G.J., Schneiderhan-Marra, N., Santoro, F., Wouters, H., Russness, H.G., Sorlie, T., Tagliabue, E., Borresen-Dale, A.L., 2010. FEMME Consortium, 2010. Triplenegative breast cancer: present challenges and new perspectives. Molecular Oncology 4, 209–229.
- Shields, J.D., Kourtis, I.C., Tomei, A.A., Roberts, J.M., Swartz, M.A., 2010. Induction of lymphoidlike stroma and immune escape by tumors that express the chemokine CCL21. Science 328, 749–752.
- Sica, A., Schioppa, T., Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., 2006. Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy. European Journal of Cancer 42, 717–727.
- Sikes, R.A., Nicholson, B.E., Koeneman, K.S., Edlund, N.M., Bissonette, E.A., Bradley, M.J., Thalmann, G.N., Cecchini, M.G., Pienta, K.J., Chung, L.W., 2004. Cellular interactions in the tropism of prostate cancer to bone. International Journal of Cancer 110. 497–503.
- Stout, R.D., Jiang, C., Matta, B., Tietzel, I., Watkins, S.K., Suttles, J., 2005. Macrophages sequentially change their functional phenotype in response to changes in microenvironmental influences. Journal of Immunology 175, 342–349.

- Watahiki, A., Wang, Y., Morris, J., Dennis, K., O'Dwyer, H.M., Gleave, M., Gout, P.W., Wang, Y.Z., 2011. MicroRNAs associated with metastatic prostate cancer. PLoS One 6, e24950. Epub 2011 Sep 30.
- Whiteside, T.L., 2008. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene 27, 5904–5912.
- Yamamura, M., Modlin, R.L., Ohmen, J.D., Moy, R.L., 1993. Local Expression of antiinflammatory cytokines in cancer. The Journal of Clinical Investigations 91, 1005–1010.
- Yang, L., Pang, Y.L., Moses, H.L., 2010. TGF-beta and immune cells: an important regulatory axis in the tumor microenvironment and progression. Trends Immunology 31, 220–227.
- Yigit, R., Massuger, L., Figdor, C.G., Torensma, R., 2010. Ovarian cancer creates a suppressive microenvironment to escape immune elimination. Gynecologic Oncology 117, 366–372. Epub 2010 Feb 9. Review.
- Yokota, T., Ishiyama, S., Saito, T., Teshima, S., Narushima, Y., Murata, K., Iwamoto, K., Yashima, R., Yamauchi, H., Kikuchi, S., 2004. Lymph node metastasis as a significant prognostic factor in gastric cancer: a multiple logistic regression analysis. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 39, 380–384.
- Yoshida, O., Akbar, S.M., Chen, S., Miyake, T., Abe, M., Murakami, H., Hiasa, Y., Onji, M., 2010. Regulatory natural killer cells in murine liver and their immunosuppressive capacity. Liver International 30, 906–912.
- Yuan, T.C., Veeramani, S., Lin, M.F., 2007. Neuroendocrine-like prostate cancer cells: neuroendocrine transdifferentiation of prostate adenocarcinoma cells. Endocrine Related Cancer 14, 531–547.
- Zhang, C., Zhang, J., Tian, Z., 2006. The regulatory effect of natural killer cells: do "NK-reg cells" exist? Cell and Molecular Immunology 3, 241–254.
- Zhang, Y.L., Liu, Q., Zhang, M., Yu, Y., Liu, X., Cao, X., 2009. Fast signal promotes lung cancer growth by recruiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells via cancer cell-derived PGE(2). Journal of Immunology 182, 3801–3808.
- Zheng, J., Huang, J., Mao, Y., Liu, S., Sun, X., Zhu, X., Ma, T., Zhang, L., Ji, J., Zhang, Y., Yin, C.C., Qiu, X., 2009. Immunoglobulin gene transcripts have distinct VHDJH recombination characteristics in human epithelial cancer cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 284, 13610–13619.
- Zhenga, H., Lia, M., Rena, W., Zenga, L., Liua, H-d, Hua, D., Denga, X., Tanga, M., Shia, Y., Gongb, J., Cao, Y., 2007. Expression and secretion of immunoglobulin alpha heavy chain with diverse VDJ recombinations by human epithelial cancer cells. Molecualar Immunology 44, 2221–2227.
- Zou, W., Machelon, V., Coulomb-L'Hermin, A., Borvak, J., Nome, F., Isaeva, T., Wei, S., Krzysiek, R., Durand-Gasselin, I., Gordon, A., Pustilnik, T., Curiel, D.T., Galanaud, P., Capron, F., Emilie, D., Curiel, T.J., 2001. Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumors recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. Nature Medicine 7, 1339–1346.